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JURISDI C T I O N A L ST A T E M E N T  

This case involves an appeal from a final decision of the United States District Court for 

the District of New Union granting Mr. Jim Bob Bowman’s (“Bowman”) motion for summary 

judgment on all grounds. (R. at 3.) The district court has subject matter jurisdiction to hear all 

civil actions involving laws of the United States. 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (2006). The United States 

District Court for the District of New Union has subject matter jurisdiction over this case 

because it is a citizen suit brought to enforce compliance with the Clean Water Act (“CWA”) for 

violations under 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311 and 1344. 33 U.S.C. § 1291 et seq (2006). The United States 

Court of Appeals for the Twelfth Circuit has subject matter jurisdiction over any appeal from all 

final decisions of the district court. 33 U.S.C. § 1291 (2006). 

ST A T E M E N T O F T H E ISSU ES PR ESE N T E D 
 

1. Whether the district court properly dismissed an organizational citizen suit under the CWA 
where the organization represents three members who live near, use, and are aesthetically 
and recreationally affected by the actions of a § 404 violating party? 

 
2. Under 33 U.S.C.A. § 1344, does Bowman commit a violation, when, without a permit, he 

cleared a wooded wetland adjacent to the navigable Muddy River, burned the biological plant 
material, leveled and drained the resulting field into the Muddy River, and then used it as an 
agricultural field? 

 
3. Under Rapanos, and its progeny, does jurisdiction under the CWA extend to wetlands when 

they are adjacent to the navigable-in-fact Muddy River, hydrologically connected to the 
Muddy, and meet the Corps’ Wetlands Delineation Manual criteria for wetlands? 

 
4. Under 33 U.S.C. § 1344, does the filling of protected wetlands without a permit constitute a 

continuing and ongoing violation of the CWA when the violator has not come into 
compliance with the CWA and the presence of fill material still remains in the protected 
wetlands without the appropriate § 404 permit? 

 
5. Whether the district court properly precluded an organizational citizen suit under the CWA 

because of diligent prosecution by a state agency where said prosecution was comprised of a 
consent agreement with the § 404 violator that did not compel regulatory compliance, 
provide public notice and comment opportunity, or punish ongoing violation of § 404 permit 
regulations.
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ST A T E M E N T O F T H E C ASE 

The New Union Wildlife Federation (“NUWF”) filed an action on August 30, 2011 in the 

United States District Court for the District of New Union under CWA § 505(a), 33 U.S.C. § 

1365(a), against Bowman for illegally filling protected wetlands without a permit in direct 

violation of CWA § 404, 33 U.S.C. § 1344. (R. at 3, 5.) This complaint was filed after the New 

Union Department of Environmental Protection (“NUDEP”) brought its own suit in the district 

court under CWA § 505. (R. at 5.) On September 15, 2011, NUWF sought to consolidate the two 

actions against Bowman, intervene in NUDEP’s § 505 suit, and oppose the entry of the decree 

entered into between NUDEP and Bowman. (R. at 5.) In response, NUDEP intervened in 

NUWF’s § 505 suit. (R. at 5.) NUDEP’s motion to enter the proposed decree between Bowman 

and itself is still currently pending. (R. at 5.) 

 After discovery, Bowman filed for summary judgment on all grounds. NUWF cross-filed 

for summary judgment on the ground that there was a violation of the CWA. (R. at 5.) NUDEP 

joined Bowman’s motion on the issues of a continuing violation and diligent prosecution and 

joined NUWF’s motion on issues standing and the existence of a CWA violation. (R. at 5.) The 

Court held on June 1, 2012 that:  (1) NUWF lacked standing; (2) it lacked subject matter 

jurisdiction because all violations were wholly past; (3) it lacked subject matter jurisdiction 

because the State of New Union was diligently prosecuting the claim; and (4) no violation of the 

CWA has occurred. (R. at 11.) 

 NUWF and NUDEP each filed a Notice of Appeal to the United States Court of Appeals 

for the Twelfth Circuit. (R. at 1.) NUDEP appeals the district court’s holdings that NUWF lacked 

standing under CWA § 505(a) and that Bowman did not violate the CWA under § 404. (R. at 1.) 
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NUWF appeals the district court’s holding on all grounds. (R. at 1.) This Court granted review 

on September 14, 2012. (R. at 2.) 

ST A T E M E N T O F T H E F A C TS 

Bowman owns 1,000 acres of land adjacent to and hydrologically connected to the 

Muddy River near the town of Mudflats in the State of New Union. (R. at 3.) The Muddy River 

is more than 500 feet wide and more than six feet deep where it borders Bowman’s property. (R. 

at 3.) Bowman’s acreage includes 650 feet of direct shoreline on the river. (R. at 3.) The property 

is covered with trees and other vegetation, characteristic of protected wetlands. (R. at 3.) 

Furthermore, Bowman’s property is wholly within the 100 year flood plain of the Muddy River; 

portions of the flood plain on his property are inundated annually when the river is high. (R. at 

3.) The parties have agreed Bowman’s aforementioned property is a protected wetland per the 

Wetlands Delineation Manual issued by the Army Corps of Engineers. (R. at 4.) 

On June 15, 2011, Bowman, without first seeking any sort of regulatory permit, 

commenced a massive land clearing operation of the protected wetlands within his property. (R. 

at 4.) He used bulldozers to knock down the trees and vegetation; he then pushed the biological 

material into windrows where it was all burned. (R. at 4.) Bowman subsequently used a 

bulldozer to dig large trenches on the protected wetland where he then buried the burnt 

biological material. (R. at 4.) Bowman then leveled the field further, pushing soil from higher 

portions of the field into the trenches, along with the biological material, onto other low lying 

portions of the field. (R. at 4.) He left a strip of land approximately 150 feet wide adjacent to the 

river un-interrupted at that time because it was too difficult to clear by bulldozer due to ground 

saturation. (R. at 4.) Lastly, Bowman formed a large ditch directly connected to the Muddy River 

in order to drain the protected wetland for future use as farm land. (R. at 4.) 
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NUWF is a non-profit corporation created to protect fish and wildlife of the state by 

preserving their habitats. (R. at 6.) Its members discovered Bowman’s activities around June 

2011, and NUWF sent a notice of its intent to sue on July 1, 2011 to Bowman and NUDEP under 

CWA § 505 for his destruction of these protected wetlands. The clearing and destruction of the 

protected wetlands on Bowman’s property, however, continued and was completed on or about 

July 15, 2011. (R. at 4.) The wetland did eventually drain due to Bowman’s activities and in 

September 2011 was sown with winter wheat. (R. at 5.) 

It is uncontested that the Muddy River is used recreationally for miles both upstream and 

downstream from Bowman’s shoreline property. (R. at 3.) NUWF members Dottie Milford, Zeke 

Norton, and Effie Lawless all submitted affidavits to the district court regarding their use of the 

Muddy River and its surrounding area and how Bowman’s destruction of the protected wetlands 

damaged their use. (R. at 6.) All three testified they use the river for recreational boating and 

fishing, often picknicking on its banks, on or in the vicinity of these wetlands. (R. at 6.) All three 

of these NUWF members are aware of the importance of wetlands in maintaining the integrity of 

the Muddy River by absorbing sediment and pollutants and serving as buffers for flooding. (R. at 

6.) All of these members are aware of Bowman’s destruction of wetlands on his property and his 

draining of the newly created field into the hydrologically connected Muddy River, and fear the 

river is more polluted as a result. (R. at 6.) Milford has specifically testified that the Muddy 

River is now noticeably more polluted than before Bowman’s violations. (R. at 6.) Norton 

testified that he has frogged recreationally in and around Bowman’s property for years. (R. at 6.) 

However, since Bowman’s non-permitted clearing of the wetlands on his property, there are no 

frogs on the proposed conservation easement and far fewer in the remaining nearby woods. (R. at 

6.) 
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 NUDEP subsequently sent Bowman a notice of violation informing him that he had 

violated both state and federal law through the destruction of a large portion of the protected 

wetlands on his property. (R. at 4.) It is agreed that the relevant state statutory provisions directly 

mirror the CWA. (R. at 4.) On August 1, 2011, NUDEP issued an administrative order to 

Bowman to which he consented to a conveyance of the yet un-cleared portion of the protected 

wetlands on his property adjacent to the river, as well as an additional 75 foot buffer zone 

between the conveyed easement and the destroyed wetlands. (R. at 4.) Bowman agreed to re-

construct and maintain a year-round wetland on this 75 foot buffer zone between the newly 

created field and the un-cleared wetland adjacent to the river. (R. at 4.) The easement established 

in this order would allow for public entry for appropriate, day-use-only, recreational purposes 

and forbid Bowman from further destruction of the protected wetlands. (R. at 4.)  

NUDEP also had a biologist study the possible effect of the conveyed easement who 

conjecturally predicted the new area would provide a higher quality habitat for wildlife in the 

wetlands than previously existed. (R. at 6.) The agreed order does not, however, compel 

Bowman to seek compliance with the CWA for the clearing, burying of burnt biological material 

and other fill, and creation of a wholly new drainage ditch on the destroyed wetlands. (R. at 4.) 

Furthermore, even though the state statute authorizes an administrative penalty of up to $125,000 

for such violations as those perpetrated by Bowman, no such monetary penalty was assessed by 

NUDEP in this order. (R. at 4.)  

 As a result, NUWF filed its own § 505 complaint with the district court seeking civil 

penalties and an order requiring Bowman to remove the burnt biological and fill material from 

the wetland and restore it to its natural state. (R. at 5.) Subsequently, NUDEP filed a motion to 

intervene in NUWF’s case, which was granted by the district court. (R. at 5.) After the respective 
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parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment, the district court granted Bowman’s motion 

for summary judgment on all counts. Because the district court improperly granted summary 

judgment in Bowman’s favor on June 1, 2012, NUWF has filed this appeal. 

SU M M A R Y O F T H E A R G U M E N T 
 

NUWF, as a citizen-plaintiff, has standing to bring a suit under the CWA and enforce Mr. 

Bowman’s compliance with the Act in order to protect and maintain our Nation’s waters.  As a 

matter of law, and as a matter of strong public policy, this Court should reverse the district 

court’s decision and grant summary judgment for NUWF. 

The district court improperly granted summary judgment in favor of Bowman where it 

found NUWF lacks standing to bring a citizen suit against Bowman pursuant to CWA § 505 for 

a violation of §§ 301(a) and 404 of the CWA. NUWF has organizational standing to bring a 

citizen suit under the CWA because the affidavits of its affected association members adequately 

establish, according to the broad and fairly low standard enunciated in the Supreme Court’s 

Laidlaw ruling, redressable injury in fact traceable to Bowman’s destruction of the protected 

wetlands on his property. 

 Bowman’s actions violated CWA § 404 when he filled protected wetlands without a 

permit. In this manner, Bowman changed the character of his land from wetlands to agricultural 

farmland, an activity that required a § 404 permit. Bowman’s land satisfies the CWA jurisdiction 

requirements of wetlands established in Rapanos v. U .S., because it is adjacent to the navigable-

in-fact Muddy River and is hydrologically connected to the Muddy River. Conducting such an 

activity without a permit is a violation of the CWA, and for that reason the Court should find that 

Bowman’s actions violated the CWA. 
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The district court improperly held that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction over NUWF’s 

claim because Bowman’s § 404 violations were wholly past. Although the Supreme Court ruled 

in Gwaltney that § 505 claims cannot be brought for wholly past violations, its holding was 

restricted to § 402 violations under the CWA. The strong weight of authority states that a § 404 

violation continues until it is removed. Bowman’s actions in placing fill material into protected 

wetlands without a permit violated § 404 of the CWA and, thus, Gwaltney’s holding is 

inapplicable. Bowman’s § 404 violations are continuing and ongoing until he either removes the 

fill or obtains an after-the-fact permit. Therefore, the district court improperly granted Bowman 

summary judgment on this issue. 

NUDEP failed to diligently prosecute Bowman where the consent decree it issued to him 

neglected to require compliance with, or attainment of a, § 404 CWA permit as a condition of the 

agreement so as to reasonably assure the ongoing § 404 violation would cease. Furthermore, 

NUDEP failed to issue the statutorily required public notice under §1319(g)(4) or give the public 

a reasonable opportunity to comment on the penalty agreement contained within the consent 

decree entered with the district court. Because NUDEP met neither the statutory nor common 

law requirements for a showing of diligent prosecution through its lenient and inadequate 

consent agreement with Bowman, the district court’s preclusion of NUWF’s citizen suit under 

the CWA should be reversed. 

ST A ND A RD O F R E V I E W 
 

The appropriate standard or review for granting a motion for summary judgment is de 

novo. Tradewinds Envtl. Restoration, Inc. v. St. Tammany Park, LLC, 578 F.3d 255, 258 (5th 

Cir. 2009). The court will grant a motion for summary judgment when the moving party shows 

that there are no genuine issues of material fact and the movant is therefore entitled to judgment 
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as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). Questions of law are reviewed de novo and, thus, is the 

appropriate standard of review in the present case. Pierce v. Underwood, 487 U.S. 552, 558 

(1988). 

A R G U M E N T 
 

The CWA was created to restore and maintain the “chemical, physical and biological 

integrity of [our] Nation’s waters.” 33 U.S.C. § 1251 (2006). The Act vests in citizens the power 

to enforce compliance with the CWA regulations in an effort to achieve this goal. 33 U.S.C. § 

1365 (2006). As discussed below, NUWF, acting in this role to bring Bowman into compliance 

with the CWA, has standing to bring this suit to correct a continuing § 404 violation when 

NUDEP failed to diligently prosecute the violation. 

I . NU W F has standing to sue Bowman for violation of the C W A because 
organizational members have suffered redressable injury in fact that is fair ly 
traceable to Bowman’s CWA violations. 
 
The District Court for the District of New Union improperly granted summary judgment 

in favor of Bowman where it found NUWF lacks standing to bring a citizen suit against Bowman 

pursuant to CWA § 505 for a violation of §§ 301(a) and 404 of the CWA. 33 U.S.C. §§ 1365, 

1311(a), 1344 (2006). NUWF has organizational standing to bring a CWA suit against Bowman 

because the affidavits of its affected association members have adequately demonstrated 

redressable injury in fact fairly traceable to the clearing of Bowman’s protected wetlands.  

An association has standing to bring suit on behalf of its members when: “(a) its 

members would otherwise have standing to sue in their own right; (b) the interests at stake are 

germane to the organization’s purpose; and (c) neither the claim asserted or the relief requested 

requires the participation of individual members of the lawsuit.” Hunt v. Wash. State Apple 

Advertising Comm’n, 432 U.S. 333, 343 (1977). Individual members have standing to sue in 
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their own right under Article III of the U.S. Constitution if: (1) they have suffered an “injury in 

fact” that is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or 

hypothetical; (2) the injury is fairly traceable to the challenged action of the defendant; and (3) it 

is likely, as opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable 

decision. Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61(1992). 

The injury in fact requirement in environmental cases is satisfied if an individual 

adequately shows that he has an aesthetic or recreational interest in a particular place, animal, or 

plant species and that this interest is impaired by the defendant’s conduct.  Friends of the Earth 

v. Laidlaw Envtl. Services, 528 U.S. 167, 183 (2000); Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. at 562-63; 

Sierra Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727, 734-35 (1972). Furthermore, the Supreme Court found 

establishing injury in fact for purposes of standing did not necessarily involve showing some 

injury to the environment, but rather to the plaintiff. Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 181. 

In Laidlaw, plaintiff environmental organizations filed a CWA citizen suit for injunctive 

relief and civil penalties alleging that Laidlaw Environmental Services was violating its NPDES 

permit at a hazardous waste incinerator on the banks of South Carolina’s North Tyger River. 528 

U.S. at 182. The plaintiff organizations filed affidavits from several members expressing injury 

they had or would suffer due to the alleged discharge violations from the industrial plant. Id. at 

182. Some members lived within two miles of the incinerator, another 20 miles away, and others 

were unspecified. Id. at 182-83. These members had previously birdwatched, picknicked near, 

waded in, and canoed in the North Tyger River, but discontinued doing so because of concern 

that the water contained harmful pollutants due to discharge violations perpetrated by the 

industrial plant. Id. The Court, assuring the existence of Article III standing in the case, held that 

these individual members of the plaintiff organizations had stated injuries sufficiently specific to 
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allow standing because all of them “use the affected area and are persons ‘for whom the aesthetic 

and recreational values of the area will be lessened’ by the challenged activity.” Id. at 183-84. 

The Supreme Court’s holding in Laidlaw evidences a broad and fairly low standard for 

determining the existence of injury in fact for standing purposes. For example, the Court found 

standing for one of the organizations in the Laidlaw case, the Sierra Club, even though it only 

had one member submit an affidavit for standing that detailed the member had canoed once on 

the affected river some forty miles from the challenged discharged pollutants. Id. at 184.  

This broad Laidlaw standard has been followed by numerous circuits, including the 

Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, where an affiant stated sufficient injury in fact as to confer 

organizational standing by showing he lived adjacent to a creek four miles downstream from an 

alleged polluter’s discharges. Friends of the Earth v. Gaston Copper Recycl ing Corp., 204 F.3d 

149, 156-60 (4th Cir. 2000) (en banc); see also Cent. & S. W. Servs., Inc. v. EPA, 220 F.3d 683, 

698-702 (5th Cir. 2000); American Petroleum Inst. v. EPA, 216 F.3d 50, 64-65 (D.C. Cir. 2000). 

NUWF, a non-profit corporation created to protect fish and wildlife of the state by 

preserving their habitats, has submitted affidavits from three of its members: Dottie Milford, 

Zeke Norton, and Effie Lawless. (R. at 6.) All three testified they use the Muddy River for 

recreational boating and fishing, often picnicking on its banks, on or in the vicinity of Bowman’s 

property where the illegal discharge under § 404 occurred and continues to occur. (R. at 6.) All 

three of these NUWF members are aware of the importance of wetlands in maintaining the 

integrity of the Muddy River by absorbing sediment and pollutants and serving as buffers for 

flooding. (R. at 6.) All of these members are aware of Bowman’s destruction of wetlands on his 

property and his draining of the newly created field into the hydrologically connected Muddy 

River, and fear the river is more polluted as a result. (R. at 6.) Milford has specifically testified 
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that the Muddy River is now noticeably more polluted than before Bowman’s violations. (R. at 

6.)  Norton testified that he had frogged recreationally in and around Bowman’s property for 

years. (R. at 6.) However, since Bowman’s non-permitted clearing of the wetlands on his 

property, there are no frogs on the proposed conservation easement and far fewer than before in 

the remaining nearby woods. (R. at 6.) 

The injuries in fact suffered by NUWF members are far greater than some speculative, 

“someday [sic] intention,” to visit an endangered species halfway around the world or mere 

“general averments” and “conclusory allegations” as have previously been found as inadequate 

to meet standing in an environmental case. See Lujan v. Nat'l Wildlife F ed'n, 497 U.S. 871, 888 

(1990); Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. at 564. 

In stark contrast, the injuries in fact experienced by NUWF members more than suffice 

the broad and relatively low standard enunciated by the Court in Laidlaw. Milford, Norton, and 

Lawless are all individuals who use the affected Muddy River and the hydrologically connected 

wetlands for a multitude of aesthetic and recreational activities. (R. at 6.) Like members in 

Laidlaw, they have testified they picnic, boat, and fish in the affected area. (R. at 6) Furthermore, 

Milford and Norton have specifically noticed the pollution and its effects on an animal species 

since Bowman’s non-permitted destruction of wetlands, evidencing clear recreational and 

aesthetic damage. (R. at 6.)  

The testimony of an NUDEP biologist that the newly-created wetland on the proposed 

conservation easement adjacent to Bowman’s property will provide a better frog habitat in the 

future is merely conjectural; all that need be shown for injury in fact under Laidlaw is that 

Norton experienced lessened aesthetic and recreational value at the time of sworn testimony. (R. 

at 6) Because NUWF has submitted the affidavits of members who are persons that have 
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experienced lessened aesthetic and recreational value in the area of Bowman’s property since his 

non-permitted actions, injury in fact fairly traceable to Bowman’s actions has been established to 

suffice the standing requirement established in Laidlaw. 

The injury in fact suffered by NUWF members traced to Bowman’s activities is also 

clearly redressable by the Court through civil penalties and forced compliance with § 404 permit 

requirements. The Supreme Court has stated that Congress has found civil penalties in CWA 

cases do more than “promote immediate compliance by limiting the defendant’s economic 

incentive to delay its attainment of permit limits; they also deter future violations.” Laidlaw, 528 

U.S. at 185. Therefore, not only should Bowman be required to attain a § 404 permit for the 

clearing of wetlands on his property and abide by the relevant regulations, NUWF members’ 

injuries can and should be redressed through the deterrence and negative economic incentive of 

civil penalties against Bowman.  

Because NUWF represents affected members who have suffered injury in fact traceable 

to Bowman’s actions and redressable by forced compliance with § 404 permit regulations and 

civil penalties, this Court should overrule the district and find as a matter of law that NUWF has 

standing in this action.  

I I . Bowman’s land clearing is a violation of the CWA under existing precedent and the 
plain language of the statute because he did so without a § 404 permit. 
 

 The district court improperly granted Bowman’s motion for summary judgment because 

Bowman violated the CWA by turning an area that was previously wetlands into an agricultural 

field and draining the wetlands into the Muddy River. The CWA provides, “the discharge of any 

pollutant by any person shall be unlawful.” 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a). It further defines “discharge of 

a pollutant,” as “any addition of any pollutant to navigable waters from any point source.” Id. at 

§ 1362(12) (2006). Included in the definition of pollutant are: dredged spoil, solid waste, 
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biological materials, rock, sand, and agricultural waste, among others. Id. at § 1362(6). No party 

disputes the material Bowman moved contained pollutants. (R. at 8.) Also, it is not disputed in 

this case that bulldozers are a form of a point source. (R. at 8); Avoyelles Sportsmen's League, 

Inc. v. Marsh, 715 F.2d 897, 929 (5th Cir. 1983). All of Bowman’s activities were conducted 

without a permit. (R. at 3.) As discussed below, Bowman’s activities were also conducted in 

wetlands within the jurisdiction of the CWA and constitute “addition.” 

A . Bowman’s former wooded wetlands meet the jurisdictional requirement of the 
C W A for navigable waters under Rapanos because the land is both adjacent and 
hydrologically connected to the Muddy River . 
 

 Navigable waters are defined as waters of the United States in the Act. 33 U.S.C. § 

1362(7) (2006). That definition was expanded to include wetlands that are adjacent to waters of 

the United States. U .S. v. Riverside Bayview Homes, Inc., 474 U.S. 121, 139 (1985) (“waters 

covered by the Act to include wetlands”). Most recently, the scope of wetlands under the 

jurisdiction of the Act was narrowed in Rapanos v. U .S., 547 U.S. 715 (2006). The Rapanos 

decision was a plurality opinion with two resulting tests; the plurality’s test and Justice 

Kennedy’s test. Id. The Rapanos decision added the requirement that wetlands have a continuous 

surface connection with waters of the United States under the plurality’s test, and Justice 

Kennedy’s test requires there be a “significant nexus” with navigable waters. Rapanos, 547 U.S. 

at 757, 787; U .S. v. Donovan, 661 F.3d 174, 184 (3d Cir. 2011). Also, as a matter of law, 

wetlands that are adjacent to navigable-in-fact waters have a significant nexus with navigable 

waters. Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 782. 

 Because the Rapanos decision was a plurality opinion, further analysis is needed to 

determine its holding. “[T]he holding of the Court may be viewed as that position taken by those 

Members who concurred in the judgments on the narrowest grounds.” Marks v. U .S., 430 U.S. 
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188, 193 (1977). However, there is little overlap between the plurality’s test and Justice 

Kennedy’s test, and the Circuits have taken different approaches to the holding of Rapanos. 

Some Circuits have held that Justice Kennedy’s test is the narrowest holding, and therefore 

controlling. U .S. v. Robison, 505 F.3d 1208, 1221–22 (11th Cir. 2007); N. Cal. River Watch v. 

City of Healdsburg, 496 F.3d 993, 999–1000 (9th Cir. 2007); U .S. v. Gerke Excavating, Inc., 464 

F.3d 723, 724–25 (7th Cir. 2006) (per curiam). Some Circuits have found that jurisdiction is 

proper if either test is met. U .S. v. Johnson, 467 F.3d 56, 66 (1st Cir. 2006); U .S. v. Bailey, 571 

F.3d 791, 798-99 (8th Cir. 2009). Other courts addressing the issue found it unnecessary to 

decide the specific issue because the facts of the specific cases sufficiently indicated jurisdiction 

applying the plurality’s test, Justice Kennedy’s, or the dissent’s view. U .S. v. Cundiff, 555 F.3d 

200, 210–13 (6th Cir. 2009); see also U .S. v. Lucas, 516 F.3d 316, 327 (5th Cir. 2008). 

 The wetlands in the present case meet the requirements of both tests under Rapanos, and 

are therefore navigable waters for purposes of the CWA. Bowman’s property is wholly within 

the 100 year flood plain of the Muddy River. (R. at 3.) His 1000 acres of former wetlands are 

adjacent to the Muddy River. (R. at 3.) Portions of the flood plain and Bowman’s property are 

inundated every year when the river is high. (R. at 3.) Bowman’s property is hydrologically 

connected to the Muddy and has biological characteristics of a wetland. (R. at 3.) All parties 

agree the Muddy River is navigable water, and that Bowman’s former woods met the Corp’s 

Wetlands Delineation Manual criteria for wetlands, and are therefore wetlands. (R. at 6.)  

 The regular flooding demonstrates a continuous surface connection as required by the 

plurality’s test in Rapanos. The existence of a hydrological connection satisfies the significant 

nexus requirement of Justice Kennedy’s test. Additionally, because Bowman’s wetlands are 

adjacent to the Muddy River, a navigable-in-fact water, jurisdiction is proper under Justice 
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Kennedy’s test as a matter of law. Therefore, the wetlands in this case qualify as navigable 

waters for purposes of the CWA, satisfying that element of discharge. 

 The remaining element of a discharge of a pollutant is the requirement of “addition.” The 

term is not defined in the Act, therefore statutory interpretation and case law must be used to 

determine its meaning, discussed below. 

B . Bowman violated the C W A by conducting his land clearing activities because he 
failed to first get a § 404 permit from the Corps. 

 
 Bowman’s actions were in violation of the CWA because he performed land clearing 

activities without a § 404 permit issued by the Corps. CWA § 404 provides the permit 

requirements for dredged or fill material. 33 U.S.C. § 1344. To establish a § 404 CWA violation, 

“the United States need only show (a) that it has jurisdiction over the subject waters, (b) that the 

defendants discharged or placed fill in those waters, and (c) that the defendants did so without a 

permit from the Corps.” U .S. v. Brink, 795 F. Supp. 2d 565, 576 (S.D. Tex. 2011) (quoting U .S. 

v. Zanger, 767 F. Supp. 1030, 1033 (N.D. Cal. 1991)); 33 U.S.C. § 1344 (2006). As discussed 

above, Bowman’s former woods are wetlands, and navigable water within the jurisdiction of the 

Corp under the Corp’s Wetlands Delineation Manual and Rapanos. 

 In U .S. v. Brace, the court found that “clearing, churning, mulching, leveling, grading, 

and land clearing of the formerly wooded and vegetated site was a discharge of a dredged spoil, 

biological material, rock and/or sand, each of which fits the definition of pollutant.” 41 F.3d 117, 

122 (3d Cir. 1994). The Sixth Circuit has also addressed the issue with similar facts. Cundiff, 555 

F.3d at 200. In Cundiff, the defendant cleared trees and excavated ditches to make wetlands 

suitable for farming. Id. at 204. He also planted the field with wheat and constructed a 200 foot 

ditch across the wetlands to the nearby creek. Id. at 205. In addition to finding that Cundiff 

violated the CWA, the court made an important point, “[i]t is of no consequence that what is now 
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dredged spoil was previously present on the same property in [a] less threatening form.... What is 

important is that once a material was excavated from the wetland, its redeposit in the same 

wetland added a pollutant where none had been before.” Id. at 213-14, 218. Clearing, leveling, 

and grading of a formerly wooded and vegetated site is exactly what Bowman did in the present 

case. 

 It is undisputed that Bowman conducted all his activities without first obtaining a § 404 

permit. For these reasons, the court should find that Bowman violated § 404 of the CWA and 

reverse the decision of the district court. 

C . Bowman committed a violation under the plain language of § 404 of the C W A and 
does not satisfy any of the permit exceptions because he changed his land’s use from 
a wooded wetland to an agricultural field, without a permit. 

 Bowman’s land clearing activities changed the character and use of the area from a 

wooded wetland to an agricultural field, an activity that requires a permit under the plain 

meaning of the CWA text. There are exceptions to the permit requirement of § 404 for normal 

farming and drainage ditch maintenance. 33 U.S.C. § 1344(1)(f)(1)(A), (C). However, Bowman 

is unable to satisfy the requirements of either exception and, regardless, his activity falls under 

the recapture provision in § 404(f)(2), which requires a § 404 permit. 

1. Bowman cannot meet the requirements of the normal farming activities 
exception or drainage ditch exception to the § 404 permit requirement 
because both are new to his property. 
 

 Bowman cannot meet either exception under CWA § 404 because he created an 

agricultural field that was not part of an ongoing farming operation and constructed a ditch. Both 

the EPA and the Corps have promulgated regulations that further explain the requirements of the 

normal farming activities and drainage ditch maintenance exceptions. 33 C.F.R. § 323.4 (1993); 

40 C.F.R. § 232.3 (1993). 
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 The normal farming activity exception requires the activities to “be part of an established 

(i.e., on-going) farming, silviculture, or ranching operation … [a]ctivities which bring an area 

into farming, silviculture, or ranching use are not part of an established operation.” 33 C.F.R. § 

323.4(a)(1)(ii) (1993); 40 C.F.R. § 232.3(c)(ii)(A), (B) (1993).  Also, converting a § 404 wetland 

to a non-wetland is a change in use of an area of waters of the United States. 40 C.F.R. § 

232.3(b) (1993). The exception for drainage ditches applies to the maintenance of drainage 

ditches, and specifically does not apply to the construction of drainage ditches. 33 C.F.R. § 

323.4(a)(3) (1993). 

 Bowman cannot satisfy the farming exception because his land was a wooded wetland 

prior to his land clearing activities, so it was not part of an on-going farming operation. His 

activities converted the use of the land from a wooded wetland to an agricultural field. The 

drainage ditch exception is also no help to Bowman because it applies to maintenance of a 

drainage ditch, not its construction. Bowman constructed a drainage ditch across his property 

extending to the Muddy River, specifically the activity prohibited to qualify for the exception to 

requiring a § 404 permit. Thus, his actions do not fall under any § 404 permit exceptions. 

2. Even if Bowman could satisfy a § 404(f)(1) exemption to permitting 
requirements, he cannot satisfy the recapture provision of the § 404(f)(2) 
permit requirement because he changed the use of the area . 
 

 Bowman changed the use and nature of his land by changing it from a wooded wetland to 

an agricultural field. The exceptions to the permitting requirements of § 404 are limited by the 

“recapture provision.” 33 U.S.C. § 1344(f)(2). The relevant portion provides: 

“Any discharge of dredged or fill material into the navigable waters incidental to 
any activity having as its purpose bringing an area of the navigable waters into a 
use to which it was not previously subject, where the flow or circulation of 
navigable waters may be impaired or the reach of such waters be reduced, shall be 
required to have a permit under this section.” 
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Id. (emphasis added). In Cundiff, the court held that even if Cundiff could satisfy either of 

the previously mentioned permit exceptions, he still would have been required to have a 

permit under the recapture provision. 555 F.3d at 215. The court reasoned that excavating 

ditches to convert wetlands to farmland was bringing an area into a use it was not previously 

subject and, if successful, would impair the flow or circulation of the navigable waters. Id.  

 Therefore, because Bowman changed wetlands to an agricultural field and sufficiently 

drained the field to plant with wheat, he cannot escape the recapture provision and, therefore, 

violated the CWA by acting without a permit. For all the above reasons, NUWF asks the court to 

reverse the decision of the district court, find the existence of a violation, and order Bowman to 

restore the wetlands. 

D . The distr ict court improperly substituted its own judgment for the meaning of the 
term “addition,” because it applied out of context theories Bowman’s actions. 
 

 The district court erred in reaching its decision by improperly substituting its own 

definition of the term addition. To support its holding, the district court combined the “unitary 

waters theory” and “outside world” definition of addition, both of which are typically applied in 

a § 402 NPDES permit situation instead of § 404 dredge and fill situation. It is also typically 

involves literal “water transfers” in the context of dams or pumping facilities. S. F lorida Water 

Mgmt. Dist. v. Miccosukee Tribe of Indians, 541 U.S. 95, 102 (2004) (unitary waters theory 

discussed in context of pumping water into the Everglades and § 402); See generally Friends of 

Everglades v. S. F lorida Water Mgmt. Dist., 570 F.3d 1210, 1214 (11th Cir. 2009) (applying 

unitary waters theory to water pumps on Lake Okeechobee in § 402 context); Catskill Mountains 

Chapter of Trout Unlimited, Inc. v. City of New York, 451 F.3d 77, 81 (2d Cir. 2006) (EPA’s 

outside world theory discussed in tunnel that transported water and § 402 context); Nat'l Wildlife 

F ed'n v. Consumers Power Co., 862 F.2d 580 (6th Cir. 1988) (outside world theory in dam and § 
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402 context.). Additionally, the two theories conflict, so it was error for the court to combine 

them to reach its holding. 

1. The distr ict court improperly applied the Unitary Waters Theory to the facts 
of this case because it ordinarily applies to literal water transfers. 

 The district court misapplied the unitary waters theory to a § 404 situation, not a § 402 

situation involving a NPDES permit. The EPA’s new regulation, which became final June 13, 

2008, references the NPDES permitting program and “water transfers as an activity that conveys 

or connects waters of the United States without subjecting the transferred water to intervening 

industrial, municipal, or commercial use.” Friends of Everglades, 570 F.3d at 1219. The EPA’s 

new regulation does not refer to the discharge of dredge and fill material, an activity requiring a 

§ 404 permit under the act, but instead specifically refers to the NPDES permitting program 

which is governed by § 402 of the CWA. 

 The terminology used and the application of the unitary waters theory demonstrates it is 

meant to apply literally to “water transfers,” an area typically covered by a § 402 NPDES permit, 

not a § 404 permit issued by the Corps nor the CWA as a whole. Under the unitary waters 

theory, an addition occurs “only when pollutants first enter navigable waters from a point source, 

not when they are moved between navigable waters.” Friends of Everglades, 570 F.3d at 1217. 

Essentially, it is not an addition to navigable waters when one moves existing pollutants from 

one navigable water to another under the theory. Id. The term pollutant is defined to include: 

dredged spoil, solid waste, biological material, rock, sand, and cellar dirt among others. 33 

U.S.C. § 1362(6). Additionally, § 404 of the CWA applies to permits for dredged or fill material. 

33 U.S.C. § 1344. When the unitary waters theory is applied to § 404, it limits its applicability to 

situations where dredged or fill material are first introduced to navigable waters from a source 

that is not navigable waters. All dredging activities done in one waterway would only be moving 
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the materials around within the same navigable waters. To take it to its logical extreme, because 

all navigable waters are considered to be one for purposes of the unitary waters theory, material 

could be dredged from the most polluted river in the country and deposited in the most pristine 

river without a permit because it would only be moving existing pollutants between navigable 

waters, not introducing them. Surely, such an activity would require a § 404 permit issued by the 

Corps. 

 Additionally, § 404(f)(2) would be read out of the statute in most situations by the 

application of the unitary waters theory. This inconsistency is because discharge requires 

addition, and addition only occurs under the unitary waters theory when pollutants are first 

introduced to navigable waters, not moved between them. The act of turning a wetland into an 

agricultural field, or creating a man-made island in the middle of a river, would only require a 

permit if material not originally within the wetland or river is introduced from a source that was 

not considered navigable water. Using the district court’s analysis, Bowman could level his 

wetlands and then move all the material into the Muddy River creating an island, all without a 

permit, because no pollutants are added, only moved within the same navigable waters. For these 

reasons, the district court misapplied the unitary waters theory by applying it to a § 404 permit 

situation. 

2. The district court improperly applied the EPA’s “outside world” definition 
because it did so in a § 404 context, not § 402 where it properly applies. 

 The district court erroneously applied the EPA’s “outside world” requirement in the 

context of § 404 of the CWA because it prevents § 404 from ever being implicated absent an 

extraordinary factual scenario. Furthermore, the “outside world” approach is inconsistent with 

the unitary navigable waters theory. CWA § 404 requires any person to get a permit for the 

deposit of dredged and fill material into waters of the United States. The dredging activity itself 
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often involves moving material from one place to another within the same area or body of water. 

By applying the EPA’s “outside world” requirement for addition, that a pollutant come from the 

outside world, somewhere outside the area or body of water, the applicability of § 404 is severely 

undercut and conflicts with the very definition of “pollutants” contained within the CWA. 

 Comparing and contrasting the outside world definition of addition with the unitary 

waters theory raises conflicts. The unitary waters theory states that no addition occurs unless a 

pollutant is first introduced to navigable waters by a point source. Friends of Everglades, 570 

F.3d at 1217. All navigable waters are one for purposes of this theory. Id. However, the outside 

world approach considers the transfer of polluted water from one body of water to another 

distinct body of water as constituting an addition, and therefore a discharge requiring a permit. 

Catskill Mountains, 451 F.3d 77 (2d Cir. 2006). Because the two theories conflict, the district 

court erred in combining the two to reach its holding. 

 In the context of a § 404 permit for dredge and fill material, the outside world definition 

also severely reduces the scope of the Act in ways similar to those discussed for the unitary 

waters theory. The primary difference is that the transport of fill material from one distinct water 

body to another would be an addition under the outside world definition. However, the absence 

of a permit requirement for changing the nature of land, such as from wetlands to a field or a 

river to an island, is still present under the outside world definition as applied to § 404 situations. 

 The court should find that the district court misapplied the law to the present case 

because the two theories conflict. For example, the district court’s analysis would not require a 

permit for the construction of dam across the Muddy as long as it was made with material 

dredged from the Muddy. Therefore, the district court erred in combining the two to reach its 
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holding, and this Court should reverse the decision of the district court and find that Bowman’s 

actions violated the CWA. 

3. Bowman’s actions constitute “addition,” because they included sidecasting in 
a wetland. 

 Bowman’s land clearing activities constitute the addition of a pollutant in violation of the 

CWA. The term addition has been interpreted “to include ‘redeposit’ of trees and vegetation 

dredged or excavated from the wetland itself is consistent with both the purposes and legislative 

history of the Clean Water Act.” U .S. v. Deaton, 209 F.3d 331, 336 (4th Cir. Md. 2000) 

(emphasis added); Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 923-25. Sidecasting in wetlands, the act of moving 

dredged or excavated dirt from the location it was removed from to another site for disposal, has 

been considered addition for CWA purposes. Cundiff, 555 F.3d at 213; Deaton, 209 F.3d at 337; 

Nat'l Min. Ass'n v. U .S. Army Corps of Engineers, 145 F.3d 1399, 1402 (D.C. Cir. 1998) 

(sidecasting has “always been regulated under Section 404.”). Sidecasting is also used in 

wetlands to fill and dry them out. Cundiff, 555 F.3d at 213. In Cundiff, Mr. Cundiff excavated 

drainage ditches and cleared trees to make wetlands suitable for farming. 555 F.3d at 204. He 

planted wheat on the property and put a 200 foot ditch extending through the wetlands to the 

nearby creek. Id. at 205. The court held that Cundiff’s performance of these activities without a § 

404 permit violated the CWA. 

 Bowman leveled trees and vegetation and pushed them into windrows, then burned the 

windrows. (R. at 4.) He then used a bulldozer to dig trenches and pushed the trees and leveled 

vegetative remains and ashes into them. (R. at 4.) He leveled the resulting field, again pushing 

soil from high portions of the field into the trenches and low lying portions of the field. (R. at 4.) 

Finally, he formed a wide ditch or swale to drain the field into the Muddy. (R. at 4.) After the 

field had sufficiently drained, Bowman then planted it with wheat. (R. at 5.) Like Cundiff, 
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Bowman took almost identical actions, with the same purpose of changing wetlands to farmland, 

all without a permit. Bowman violated the CWA because he conducted sidecasting in a wetland 

without a § 404 permit. For all these reasons, the court should find that Bowman’s actions are in 

violation of the CWA, reverse the decision of the district court, and grant NUWF’s motion for 

summary judgment on the issue. 

I I I . The District Court has subject matter jurisdiction over NUWF’s citizen suit against 
Mr. Bowman because Mr. Bowman’s violations of the Clean Water Act §§ 1311 and 
1344 are continuing and ongoing. 

Under the CWA, “the discharge of any pollutant by any person shall be unlawful.” 33 

U.S.C. § 1311(a). However, the CWA allows the discharges of pollutants into navigable waters 

of the United States if made pursuant to its two statutory permitting schemes under §§ 402”) and 

404. Id. § 402 permits are issued by the EPA under the National Pollution Discharge Elimination 

System and covers the discharge of pollutants into navigable waters of the United States. 33 

U.S.C. § 1342 (2006). Under § 404, permits are issued by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and 

regulate discharges of dredged or fill material into navigable waters of the United States. 33 

U.S.C. § 1344.   

A citizen has the right to enforce compliance with regulations set forth in the CWA. 33 

U.S.C. § 1365. A citizen may bring a civil action against any person alleged to be in violation of 

an effluent standard or limitation under § 301. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a), (f). A court lacks subject 

matter jurisdiction over a citizen suit if it is brought in regards to a wholly past violation. 

Gwaltney of Smithfield v. Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc., 484 U.S. 49, 60 (1987). A violation is 

wholly past if it does not exist on the date the complaint is filed and there is no likelihood that it 

will recur in the future. Id. at 66. 
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NUWF, as a citizen-plaintiff, has the right to seek judicial enforcement in this case to 

bring Bowman into compliance with the CWA. Bowman’s illegal violations of §§ 301 and 404 

of the CWA were present and continuing on the day NUWF filed its complaint. Furthermore, 

Bowman’s § 404 violations in placing dredged and fill material into protected wetlands 

continues even today because he has not attempted to restore the wetlands back to its original 

state or apply for an after-the-fact permit. Because of these facts, the district court improperly 

granted Bowman and NUDEP’s motion for summary judgment. Thus, this Court should reverse 

the district court’s improper decision and find as a matter of law that the Court has subject matter 

jurisdiction over NUWF’s claim. 

A . The distr ict court improperly granted Bowman and NUDEP’s motion for summary 
judgment on the grounds that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction under the C W A 
§ 505(a) because Gwaltney and its progeny only apply to § 402 violations. 
 
The district court improperly granted summary judgment for Bowman and NUDEP when 

it applied Gwaltney and its progeny as controlling precedent. Citizens cannot bring suit under § 

505(a) of the CWA for wholly past violations. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 64; See generally Conn. 

Coastal Fishermen’s Ass’n. v. Remington Arms Co., Inc., 989 F.2d 1305, 1309, 1312 (2d Cir. 

1993) (defendant not liable under CWA because §402 violations ceased prior to when complaint 

was filed); Aiello v. Town of Brookhaven, 136 F.Supp.2d 81, 121 (E.D.N.Y. 2001) (town is not 

liable under CWA § 402 as a past polluter for ongoing leachate plume discharge); Wilson v. 

Amoco Corp., 33 F.Supp.2d 969, 975-76 (D.Wyo. 1998) (§ 402 violations were not continuing 

and ongoing because the discharges stopped prior to plaintiff filing complaint). However, a court 

has subject matter jurisdiction over a citizen suit, even for a past violation, if the plaintiff alleges, 

in good faith, that the violations are continuous or intermittent. Id.   
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In Gwaltney, plaintiffs alleged that defendant had violated its NPDES permit, which was 

issued and regulated under § 402 of the CWA. Id. at 53. The § 402 violations occurred between 

1981 and 1984, with the last reported violation on May 15, 1984. Id. at 53-54. Plaintiffs then 

filed a complaint in June 1984 and alleged that violations of the CWA had occurred and would 

continue to occur. Id. at 54. In determining that § 505 barred citizen suits for wholly past 

violations, the Court relied on the plain language of § 505(a) and found that “to be in violation” 

means that the violation had to be presently occurring or would occur in the future. Id. at 59.   

The Gwaltney holding was tailored to the facts presented, namely that the alleged 

violations were § 402 violations. Stillwater of Crown Point Homeowner’s Ass’n., Inc. v. Kovich, 

820 F.Supp.2d 859, 895 (N.D. Ind. 2011). § 402 violations can quickly dissipate and disperse 

once added to a navigable water. City of Mountain Park, Ga. v. Lakeside at Ansley, LLC ., 560 

F.Supp.2d 1288, 1296 (N.D.Ga. 2008). However, § 404 violations, involving dredged and fill 

material, do not dissipate or disperse easily once discharged. Id. The dredged or filled material 

remains where it was discharged and its continual presence can have very adverse environmental 

effects. Id. When the § 404 violation concerns the filling of wetlands to make dry land, courts 

find Gwaltney does not control because Gwaltney concerned a wastewater violation. Informed 

Citizens United, Inc. v. USX Corp., 36 F.Supp.2d 375, 377 (S.D.Tex. 1999). 

NUWF has asserted that Bowman violated §§ 301 and 404 of the CWA. (R. at 3.) 

Bowman had discharged fill material into protected wetlands in order to make the land dry for 

farming. (R. at 4-5.) Unlike the facts in Gwaltney, the fill material in the wetlands has not and 

will not disperse or dissipate like a § 402 violation would. Thus, because the violations in this 

case are under the regulation of § 404 of the CWA, the district court erroneously applied 

Gwaltney and its progeny to NUWF’s suit against Bowman. 
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B . The distr ict court has subject matter jurisdiction for NUWF’s citizen suit claims 
because, under § 404 of the C W A , § 404 violations continue until corrective action is 
taken on the part of the violator . 
 
Bowman’s illegal actions in filling protected wetlands without a permit is a § 404 

violation under the CWA, and the violation continues until Bowman comes into compliance with 

the CWA. Fill material that remains in protected wetlands without a permit is a continuing 

violation everyday that it remains in the wetlands. Sasser v. EPA, 990 F.2d 127 (4th Cir. 1993). 

Violations are continuing when a person “(1) illegally dumps fill material in wetlands or other 

federal waters; and (2) is in a position to remove the pollutants, but fails to do so.” C tr. 

Biological Diversity v. Marina Point Dev. Assocs., 434 F.Supp.2d 789, 798 (C.D. Cal. 2006). Fill 

materials are used to bring an area of land into a use that it was not originally designed for, such 

as changing wetlands into dry land. Kovich, 820 F.Supp.2d at 894. § 404 violations continue 

until the dredged or fill material is removed or the violator obtains an after-the-fact § 404 permit 

for the already discharged dredged or fill material. Atlantic States Legal Found., Inc. v. Hamelin, 

182 F.Supp.2d 235, 246-47 (N.D.N.Y. 2001). Violations under § 404 of the CWA are continuing 

violations and are not barred by the statute of limitations. Kovich, 820 F.Supp.2d at 887. 

Prior to the Supreme Court’s decision in Gwaltney, the First Circuit held that protected 

wetlands which were dredged and filled prior to the date which the United States filed its 

compliant was a continuing and ongoing violation of § 404 of the CWA. U .S. v. Cumberland 

Farms of Conn., Inc., 826 F.2d 1151 (1st Cir. 1987). Subsequent to the Gwaltney decision, courts 

continued to hold that the presence of fill material in wetlands constituted a continuing violation 

that vested the courts with subject matter jurisdiction over the suit. N.C. Wildlife Fed’n. v. 

Woodbury, 1989 WL 106517, *2 (E.D.N.C. 1989); USX Corp., 36 F.Supp.2d at 377. In 

Woodbury, the court held that this reasoning found support in Justice Scalia’s concurring opinion 
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in Gwaltney. Id. Justice Scalia reasoned that a person remains “in violation” of the CWA, under 

§ 505(a), until remedial measures are taken that clearly eliminate the violation. Gwaltney, 484 

U.S. at 69. Subject matter jurisdiction under § 505(a) depends on the “state” of the violation 

rather than the “act” of the violation. Id. The Woodbury court based its reasoning on that of 

Justice Scalia’s narrow interpretation of § 505(a) and held that it was proper to call a violation 

continuing until it is remedied. Woodbury, 1989 WL at *2. If a violation is not susceptible to a 

remedy, such as § 402 discharges which naturally disperse or dissipate, it is barred by the 

Gwaltney holding. Id. As a result, the court held that defendants, who discharged dredged and fill 

material onto wetlands, effectively destroying them, were liable under §§ 301 and 404 of the 

CWA despite the fact that all discharges stopped six years prior to commencement of the suit. Id. 

at **1-2. 

Other district courts faced with the same issue have found the Woodbury decision 

persuasive and have chosen to follow its rationale in holding that the presence of dredge or fill 

material in wetlands is a continuing violation. City of Mountain Park, Ga, 560 F.Supp.2d at 

1296; U .S. v. Reaves, 923 F.Supp. 1530, 1534 (M.D. Fla. 1996); but see Bettis v. Town of 

Ontario, 800 F.Supp. 1113 (W.D.N.Y. 1992) (defendant not liable under CWA for filling 

portions of wetlands). However, Bettis has been regarded as an anomaly and is not even 

recognized by its own district. Kovich, 820 F.Supp.2d at 895.  

Similar to Woodbury, the court in City of Mountain Park, Ga, found that to construe § 

505(a) to bar citizens from enforcing compliance with the CWA for § 404 violations simply 

because the discharges ceased was inconsistent with the intent behind the citizen suit provision. 

560 F.Supp.2d at 1296. Finding support in Justice Scalia’s concurring opinion in Gwaltney, the 

court stated if citizens were barred from bringing suits for these violations, it would incentivize 
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violators of the CWA to simply conceal their illegal actions until they are completed, because in 

order to be liable, they would have to be caught in the act. Id. To find that a citizen suit is barred, 

in this situation, does not follow the logic of allowing citizen suits in the first place and surely 

was not the intent of the drafters of the Act. Id. 

In light of Gwaltney, a defendant bears a heavy burden in order to have a case dismissed 

as moot. Ogeechee-Canoochee Riverkeeper, Inc. v. T.C . Logging, Inc., 2009 WL 2390851, * 8 

(S.D. Ga. 2009). The defendant must show that no violation was continuing at the time the 

complaint was filed and that it is absolutely clear that the violation will not occur in the future.  

Id. In T.C . Logging, Inc., the court held that the defendant had violated § 404 of the CWA by 

discharging fill material into wetlands with a permit, and that the violation continued while the 

fill material remained in the wetlands. Id. The court further held that the defendant could not 

show that the violation would not occur in the future since the violation, by its very nature, was 

continuing. Id. 

Indeed, the weight of authority supports the finding that, even in light of Gwaltney, § 404 

violations are continuing until some remedial measures are taken. Kovich, 820 F.Supp.2d at 895. 

The district court in Kovich recently held that a company’s violations of the CWA § 404 in 

discharging fill material onto wetlands without a permit was a continuing violation despite the 

fact that the discharge had occurred prior to the commencement of the § 505 suit. Id. at 896. The 

court reasoned that to hold such a violation as not continuing would frustrate the ability of a 

citizen to enforce compliance with the CWA under § 505. Id. In essence, the consequences of the 

illegal discharge of dredged or fill material onto wetlands is the harm that citizens are entitled to 

seek remedial measures for, such an injunctions and declaratory actions. Id.; Hamelin, 182 

F.Supp.2d at 248. 
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The district court improperly held, as a matter of law, that NUWF’s § 505(a) citizen suit 

against Bowman for the illegal discharge of fill material into protected wetlands without a permit 

lacked subject matter jurisdiction. This holding was the result of the erroneous and overly broad 

application of Gwaltney and its progeny, that citizen suits are barred for wholly past violations, 

to this case. (R. at 7.) As a foundational ruling, the district court failed to acknowledge and 

accord the proper treatment to Bowman’s § 404 violations. As the Woodbury line of decisions 

highlight, Gwaltney’s holding is inapplicable to § 404 violations because, unlike § 402 

violations, the illegally discharged dredged or fill material does not disperse or dissipate, but 

instead remains. Accordingly, the failure to make such a distinction between § 402 and § 404 

violations was an erroneous application of law. (R. at 7.)   

Every day that Bowman fails to remove the fill material from the protected wetlands 

constitutes another day in which Bowman is in violation of the CWA. This is not only because of 

the presence of the fill material, but also because Bowman has failed to obtain an after-the-fact § 

404 permit for the discharge. If in fact Bowman did obtain such a permit, or in the alternative 

removed the fill material, he would be in compliance with the CWA. Until Bowman takes such 

action, it is NUWF’s right, under § 505 of the CWA, to ask for judicial enforcement. For the 

district court to hold that NUWF’s suit to seek remedial action lacks subject matter jurisdiction is 

to subvert the very purpose for which Congress created the citizen suit provision in the CWA. § 

505 was created for citizens to force violators into compliance with the CWA in the form of 

remedial measures. Bowman’s violations did not disperse or dissipate once he discharged fill 

material onto protected wetlands. The violation is the fill material, and that fill material remains 

in the wetlands even today. Therefore, the district court improperly granted Bowman and 

NUDEP’s summary judgment motion. Thus, this Court should reverse the district court’s 
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decision and find that as a matter of law subject matter jurisdiction exists for NUWF’s citizen 

suit. 

I V . NUWF’s citizen suit is not precluded because NUDEP failed to diligently prosecute 
Bowman in its own civil action pursuant to statutory requirements. 
 
NUDEP failed to diligently prosecute Bowman where it did not seek to compel 

compliance with CWA § 404 or force Bowman to attain a § 404 permit for the clearing of the 

wetland on his property. Because NUDEP failed to diligently prosecute Bowman, NUWF’s 

citizen suit was improperly barred at the district court level. The primary purpose of the citizen 

suit brought under the CWA is to permit citizens “to abate pollution when the government 

cannot or will not command compliance.” Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 62. Citizen suits are, however, 

meant “to supplement rather than to supplant governmental action.” Id. at 60.  

Looking to statutory language, there are only two prerequisites that limit the right to 

bring a citizen’s suit under the Act. First, an action cannot be brought where the federal or state 

government has commenced and is diligently prosecuting a civil or criminal action in a court to 

require compliance with the same standard, limitation, or permit. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b). Second, 

an action cannot be sustained where the state has commenced and is diligently prosecuting an 

action under a state law comparable to § 309(g) of the Act. 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)(6)(A)(ii) (2006). 

The Act does not define the terms “diligently” or “diligently prosecuting” as they are 

used in § 505(b). A CWA enforcement prosecution will normally be considered “diligent” if the 

judicial action “is capable of requiring compliance with the Act and is in good faith calculated to 

do so.” Friends of Milwaukee’s Rivers v. Milwaukee Metro. Sewerage Dist., 382 F.3d 743, 760 

(7th Cir. 2004). Federal courts also consider a variety of other factors including: (1) whether the 

State’s efforts have affected a defendant’s efforts to comply with its permit; (2) whether the State 

has made any efforts to enforce its stipulation; (3) whether penalties are assessed for the 
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violations which the agreement is intended to cover; and (4) whether the penalties are sufficient 

to recover any economic benefit from non-compliance. See, e.g., Laidlaw, 890 F. Supp. at 489-

95. Furthermore, diligent prosecution exists where a settlement [between appropriate state 

officials and a citizen’s suit defendant] reasonably assures violations will not occur. Atlantic 

States Legal Found., Inc. v. Eastman Kodak Co., 933 F.2d 124, 127 (2d Cir. 1991).  

Diligent prosecution has been found to exist where a state agency’s consent judgment 

with a county government mandated compliance with thermal effluent limitations permit and 

imposed daily fines for current and further non-compliance with thermal effluent limitations. 

Piney Run Pres. Ass’n v. County Comm’rs, 523 F.3d 453 (4th Cir. 2008). In Piney Run, a private 

citizens’ association filed a citizen suit alleging the county waste facility violated the CWA by 

discharging effluent into a navigable water. 523 F.3d at 455. The state government subsequently 

intervened and entered into a consent judgment with the county that mandated compliance with 

permit limitations within 300 days, including a civil penalty of $500 for each day of non-

compliance with regulations under the permit, as well as the implementation of a multi-phase 

project to mitigate previous damage. Id. at 458. Because the state imposed these measures in the 

consent judgment, the Fourth Circuit found the state diligently prosecuted the county 

government so as to bar the private association’s citizen suit. Id. at 460.  

Also, there was no preclusion of a citizen suit under the CWA where a consent order and 

agreement (COA) entered into between a state government and a defendant merely established 

compliance schedules and milestones yet did not address permit violations. PennEnvironment v. 

RRI Energy Northeast Mgmt. Co., 744 F. Supp. 2d 466, 467 (W.D. Pa. 2010). In this case, the 

Pennsylvania environmental protection agency entered into a COA, released in a publicly issued 

newsletter in 2002, with the defendant company in order to settle the defendant’s 2002 appeal of 
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imposed 2001 permit requirements. PennEnvironment, 744 F. Supp. 2d at 468. This COA 

established compliance schedules, but did not address the actual violations of the 2001 permit or 

impose penalties. Id. at 471. In 2007, a private association filed a citizen suit alleging violations 

of the 2001 COA from 2002 to 2006 in order to force compliance of the defendant with its 2001 

CWA permit. Id. at 469. The court found that because the state’s COA was not an attempt to 

force compliance by the defendant with the 2001 permit regulations, there was no diligent 

prosecution and the private association could not be precluded. Id. at 469. 

It is also important to note that § 1319(g)(4) requires NUDEP to give proper public notice 

before issuing an order assessing a civil penalty to give the public reasonable opportunity to 

comment on said penalty. The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals found where a state’s 

administrative enforcement procedures did not contemplate public notice and participation 

required under § 1319(g), there was no diligent prosecution as to bar a citizen suit. Friends of 

Milwaukee’s Rivers, 382 F.3d at 757. 

NUDEP’s failure to compel Bowman to stop violating § 404 and to attain a § 404 permit 

represents the exact situation for which Congress designed the Act’s citizen-suit provisions. See, 

e.g., Proffitt v. Municipal Authority of Borough of Morrisville, 897 F.2d 523 (3d Cir. 1990) 

(citizen suit “is intended to supplement governmental enforcement by authorizing citizens to act 

as private attorney generals.”). Bowman’s § 404 violations continue to this day; therefore, the 

pollution abatement purposes of the Act’s citizen suit provision will be served by NUWF’s suit. 

In order to achieve what NUDEP has either failed or been unwilling to do, NUWF is entitled to 

file this citizen suit after providing the requisite notice in order to rectify Bowman’s ongoing 

violation of the CWA.  
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The district court’s ruling that NUDEP’s actions sufficed the diligent prosecution 

standard by filing a complaint and then negotiating a settlement with Bowman is legally and 

factually inaccurate because it did not require compliance with § 404. (R. at 7.) The district court 

found that the consent decree entered by NUDEP, and agreed upon by Bowman, required 

Bowman to “cease further violations of § 404,” without requiring Bowman to seek a § 404 

permit for his clearing of the wetland on his property, or to even seek compliance with permit 

regulations under § 404 for the burying of dredged spoil and fill in what was previously a 

wetland. (R. at 7.) This decision is directly contrary to the Supreme Court’s ruling in Gwaltney 

and numerous other circuit decisions that mandate preclusion of a citizen suit is only appropriate 

where the state agency’s actions actually seek to force compliance with CWA permit regulations. 

484 U.S. at 62, See also Proffitt, 897 F.2d at 525; Piney Run, 523 F.3d at 455; Eastman Kodak 

Co. 933 F.2d at 127; Friends of Milwaukee’s Rivers, 382 F.3d at 760.   

The penalty assessed, like the one found inadequate to trigger preclusion by the court in 

PennEnvironment, via the NUDEP consent decree, in no way compelled Bowman to comply 

with § 404 permit regulations or to unbury the dredge spoil and fill used to dry the wetland now 

utilized for crop growth subsequent to its draining into the Muddy River. (R. at 4.) Unlike the 

daily penalties for permit non-compliance the Fourth Circuit found to trigger citizen suit 

preclusion in Piney Run, the only real penalty assessed here was Bowman’s relinquishment of 

the yet undestroyed wetlands on his property to the state in the form of a conservation easement, 

even though the statute authorizes an administrative penalty up to $125,000 in such orders. (R. at 

4.) The penalties assessed by NUDEP in the consent decree do not meet any of the factors that 

courts deem critical for concluding that a judicial or administrative action constitutes a “diligent 

prosecution” so as to preclude a citizen suit.  
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 Furthermore, NUDEP never issued the required public notice under § 1319(g)(4) nor 

gave the public reasonable opportunity to comment on the lenient penalty agreed upon by 

Bowman. (R. at 4-5.) Because NUDEP failed to meet the public notice requirement under § 

1319(g)(4) and did not give the community or interested parties an opportunity to comment on 

the proposed penalty, it did not suffice the statutory requirement for diligent prosecution.  

Because NUDEP met neither the plain statutory meaning nor the common law developed 

definition of diligent prosecution through its lenient and inadequate consent agreement with 

Bowman, this Court should overrule the district court’s finding of diligent prosecution and find 

that NUWF’s citizen suit is not precluded. 

C O N C L USI O N 
 

This Court should reverse the district court’s decision in granting summary judgment to 

Bowman on all grounds and find that, as a matter of law, NUWF is entitled to summary 

judgment on all grounds. NUWF, as a citizen-plaintiff, has standing to bring a CWA action for § 

404 violations under § 1365 of the CWA. NUWF represents affected individuals whose 

redressable injuries-in-fact are traceable to Mr. Bowman’s illegal actions in destroying protected 

wetlands. In performing these illegal actions without a permit, Mr. Bowman directly violated § 

404 of the CWA. He impermissibly added fill material, in the form of burned biological material, 

to federally protected wetlands that are adjacent to the navigable-in-fact Muddy River without an 

appropriate § 404 permit from the Army Corps of Engineers. His violations are continuing and 

ongoing because, to this day, he has not performed any remedial measures, such as removing the 

fill material or obtaining an after-the-fact permit, to come into compliance with the CWA. 

Lastly, NUDEP failed to diligently prosecute Mr. Bowman for his § 404 violations by not 

requiring Bowman to come into actual compliance with the CWA and, as is statutorily required, 
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giving the public an opportunity to comment on the consent decree before it was entered into 

before the district court. 

 The citizen-suit provision, under § 505, was created by Congress to vest in citizens the 

power to force those who jeopardize the chemical, physical, or biological integrity of our 

Nation’s waters. NUWF must be allowed to pursue its action and force Bowman to comply with 

the CWA in order to further the goals of the Act as established by Congress. As such, this Court 

should find that the district court improperly and erroneously granted Mr. Bowman’s motion for 

summary judgment. Therefore, this Court should reverse the district court’s decision and find 

that NUWF, as a matter of law, is entitled to summary judgment on all grounds. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
_____________________________ 

Counsel for New Union Wildlife Federation 
 


